
0 West Falmouth Hwy: A Piece of the Puzzle 
Timeline of the Preservation of the Long Pond Watershed 

 
 
Executive Summary: 
 
0 West Falmouth Hwy was purchased in 1931 as part of the Weld Estate (L.C. Plan 50) by vote 
of Town Meeting to protect the Long Pond Watershed and Forestation following extensive 
survey work by the Committee on the Protection of Long Pond Water shed and Forest 
Committee – predecessors to today’s conservation groups. This land was presented as a tax title 
taking to Town Meeting in 2024 which many members interpreted to mean it was taken for non-
payment of taxes and with no reference to the original purchase with intent for preservation. This 
misunderstanding has resulted in the threat of development which would reverse 95 years of 
precedent in the town of Falmouth. Currently large portions of this original land purchased 
around Long Pond appear to not be formally protected by modern statute and as such are 
threatened with other suggested developments. This would pose impingement on these lands 
purchased for watershed protection and forestation. 
 
Development would mean the loss of a piece of land which yields ecosystem services in the form 
of ground water filtration, water retention, birding and recreation, as well as damaging one of the 
most historic parts of Falmouth across the street from the 1678 Saconesset homestead and 
abutting Runner Stone Farm and across from Peach Tree Circle Farm. It would also make a 
dangerous intersection even more dangerous while preventing possible redesign of the 
interchange. 
 
Shifting care of this land to the Conservation Commission would follow a clear precedent of the 
Conservation Commission holdings of other similar parcels along West Falmouth Hwy and on 
Brick Kiln Road purchased for water protection and forestation. A transfer of 0 W Falmouth 
Highway to the Conservation Commission would protect a key resource of the town benefiting 
all residents and halt further intrusions on these original parcels of forest around our drinking 
water supply.  
 
 
Background: 
 
Long Pond was purchased by the Town of Falmouth from the previous private water company 
circa 1898. In 1906 an extensive series of regulations were created to protect the water, e.g. no 
livestock, tanning of leather, release of excrement, etc. within 250 feet of the pond. 
 
In 1929 the Town had three water commissioners. Around this time, with increasing 
development pressure, the Town realized that more proactive actions were needed to be taken to 
protect the drinking water. There were also concerns about forest fires and throughout 
Massachusetts there was a great interest in the forestation of public lands.  Tree planting 
continued to be a priority; forestation was a major activity of the Civilian Conservation Corp 
(CCC) both here in Falmouth (e.g. 300 Committee website) and around the US. 
 



The Town Meeting approved the creation of a Committee on the Protection of Long Pond Water 
Shed in 1929, which included the three water commissioners and two other town forestry 
officials.  In 1930, Their number was expanded to six; three water commissioners and three 
others by a Town Meeting warrant. Their names each year were published in the list of town 
officials in the annual Town Record.  
[for 1930 example see Appendix A]  
 
Within the last 11 years, there was some awareness of the Watershed Committee, as seen in the 
April 9, 2014 Town Meeting discussion regarding the Long Pond/Municipal Water Filtration 
Plant [Appendix B], but it appears no one did the research to understand the role of that Town 
Committee and the concerted and successful efforts to purchase the watershed area from the 
1920’s to 40’s, 
 
After a series of warrant articles approving surveying the region, it was decided by Town 
Meeting Vote that the land around Long Pond should be purchased for the protection of the 
watershed and forestation. In the following years, Town Meeting publications show warrant 
articles for the purchase of numerous properties around the Pond, as can be seen in Town 
documents and also printed in the Falmouth Enterprise of the period [see Appendix C for 
example] notably including the land of the Weld Estate (L.C. Plan 50) which includes the land 
now known as 0 W Falmouth Hwy. 
 
There were some holdouts; several landowners on the southern end of the pond chose not to sell, 
but gave the Town control of the land. Some land owners who refused to sell to the town 
developed parcels e.g. Braeside. Another, owner, Lawrence, wished to continue gravel mining, 
but discussed trading some land adjacent to the pond for a similar strip in Good Will Park. 
Ultimately that gravel production ceased when they reached the level of ground water- see April 
14, 2014 Town Meeting “there’s a reason why it’s no longer a gravel pit, and that is because they 
hit groundwater. So it’s groundwater level as the level of Long Pond. Long Pond is really a 
visual representation of the ground water aquifer and that sand, it right now is that same visual 
representation.” 
 



There was strong public sentiment for the preservation of the land around Long Pond as 
evidenced by the repeated approval of warrant articles for purchases and in the popular press, 
e.g. The Falmouth Enterprise May 14, 1939 
 

 
 



By 1940, the majority of the land around Long Pond had been purchased by the Town for 
watershed protection and forestation.  
 
Map dated 1940, published in Falmouth Enterprise Nov. 19, 1948 
with notations of Town land, land with public reservations, and proposed additions. 
(Note: map is rotated about 120 degrees with North at the lower right) 
 

 
 
It is important to note that Conservation Commissions were not established until 1957.  
Conservation Restrictions were not established until 1969 when the State Legislature passed the 
Conservation Restriction Act (MGLc.184, s. 31-33). By this time the Long Pond Town lands had 
already been owned for some 40 years and many in the Town administration likely took for 
granted the preservation of this forest. We have not yet formally protected many of these parcels 
under Article 97 or Conservation Restrictions. 
 
While some land was taken by eminent domain at request of a town meeting vote, which would 
be listed as a form of taking, it is not a tax title taking for non-payment of taxes and so far there 



has been no evidence found that this land around Long Pond was taken for non-payment of 
taxes. This is why when certain landowners refused to sell their plots to the town, it resulted in 
development such as Braeside and Andys Ln, risking degradation of the water supply.  
 
There have been other threats to impinge on the town-owned land around Long Pond which were 
prevented by public advocacy. In 1949 there was a proposal to build a new high school at the 
south end of this forest and considerable debate as evidenced in Falmouth Enterprise articles as 
to whether the Water Commission had the power to reject this location [Appendix D]. The 
Enterprise Editorial spoke strongly against this development in regard to possible water 
contamination [Appendix E]. Ultimately the Siders Pond location was chosen for the High 
School (now Lawrence Junior High). 
 
The State Highway Administration building of State Route 28 in the late 50’s, opening in 1961, 
did result in a loss of a strip of Town Long Pond protection lands and cut off one section of the 
former Weld land, now identified as “0 West Falmouth Hwy”. It also cut off two other parcels, 
one held by the Conservation Commission, between Palmer Ave and 28 also identified as 0 West 
Falmouth Hwy. This subdivision for the highway appears in Plan 50D Subdivision of Land in 
Falmouth. Parcel 1-43B is congruent with the location of the current Highway 28. Nonetheless, 
this land was purchased under Town Meeting authorization in 1931. It was not a “Tax-Title-
Taking” for non-payment of taxes as has been implied in the Assessors Records and Town GIS 
and recent town communications.  
 
Plan 50D May 14, 1959, shows the land is also identified as Town of Falmouth Cert No 2668. 
As Rt. 28A was modified for the offramp of newly constructed Rt. 28.  

 



 
Specifics of the Weld Land Purchase 

 
Town Meeting Warrant Articles 70 & 71 in Feb. 1931 include the request for funds to purchase 
the land of the Weld Estate, which was approved 231 affirmative to 5 negative; (70) $3,100 for 
the purchase of adjacent land for watershed protection and (71) $2,600 nearby land for 
forestation. 
Note also Art. 72: $600 for the purchase of land from Isabel C. and Samuel Moore for two 
parcels bordering the pond, demonstrating the ongoing plans to buy watershed land. 
 

 
 
  



The Weld land is illustrated in the 1900 Survey plan of the land of Loretta Barton Weld (L.C. 
Plan 50A) 
Note that on the West, the land runs to the County Road (now Rt. 28A) and is bracketed north 
with the land of Daniel & Virtue Bowerman and Daniel Bowerman to the south. A portion of the 
Daniel and Virtue Bowerman land was subdivided and a portion purchased by the town and a 
portion kept by her and her son, Arnold Gifford, who built Virtue Circle and sold the 
surrounding lots, also a potential degradation of the water source. 

 
 



The deed registered Jul 30, 1931, demonstrates the land was sold by Loretta Barton Weld’s 
family to the Town of Falmouth for a total of $5,163.13. The deed clearly defines the easterly 
side of the lot as being bound by the County Road and the Bowerman lands. It also defines 
easements for travel and taking sand for a cranberry bog on the land, congruent with present day 
conservation restrictions. The cranberry bog was ultimately purchased by the town and closed 
(Long Pond Swamp) 
A full copy of the deed appears in the appendices. 

 
 

 



There are a series of land plans appearing under L.C. Plan 50 in the Barnstable County Registry 
of Deeds which show this land consistently as belonging to the Town of Falmouth. 
In addition, there are two plans from 1966 and 1971, related to the purchase of land in the Virtue 
Circle subdivision, which also reference and corroborate this as Town of Falmouth Land (L.C. 
Plan 50) 

 
 

50C – 1937 – Showing adjustments at boundary of L.C. Plan 50 (0 West Falmouth Hwy)  
 

 
 

 



50 E – 1959 – Showing adjustment at boundary of 0 W Fal. For Sippewissett Exit ramp to the 
newly constructed Rt. 28 

 

 
 

 
 



 
 

1966 Plan of Subdivision of Land of Arnold B. Gifford in West Falmouth – Again referencing 
L.C. Plan 50 Town of Falmouth at 0 W. Fal. Hwy. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
1971 Plan of Subdivision of Land of Arnold B. Gifford in West Falmouth – Again referencing 

Town of Falmouth L.C. 50, the former Weld property purchased in 1931.

 



 
 

 
The Arnold and Virtue (nee Bowerman) Gifford Nov 14, 1931 Plan of Land to be Purchased by 
Town of Falmouth, Long Pond Watershed. Note that this land is not immediately adjacent to the 
Pond, demonstrating that the Town was buying areas around the Pond region for protection and 
forestation. This was not just land along the shoreline. 
Note that the Giffords did not sell the western section of their land, which was to be developed as 
Virtue Circle, but did sell the eastern section to the town. This plan clearly shows the land to the 
south as “Town of Falmouth (Formerly Weld Land)” 
It also shows the “Swamp” to the north is now Town land as well (Formerly Thompson land 
cranberry bog, the purchase of which had been approved in an earlier Town Meeting) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Appendices: 

  
Appendix A 

1930 Town officers: Committee for Long Pond Watershed in lower right 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Appendix B 

Enterprise Feb 16, 1932 - Spring Warrant articles for more Long Pond Parcel purchases  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 



 
Appendix C 

1931 Deed for Weld land sold to Town of Falmouth pp 1-2 
 

 
 
      
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



 
1931 Deed for Weld land sold to Town of Falmouth pp 3-4 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Appendix D 

Falmouth Enterprise Nov 19, 1949: Proposal to site new High School in Goodwill Park 

 
 
 
 



 
Appendix E 

Falmouth Editorial against Good Will Park High School site stressing safety of the Water supply. 
 

 
 
 



Recommendations to Town Meeting from Committee on Protection of Long Pond Watershed 
requesting more land purchases

 



Report from Town Forest Committee Referencing Intent for Forestation, Water Protection, and 
Recreation. Notes high unemployment from Great Depression

 



 
Appendix F 

Issues in Current Town GIS and Land not Formally Conserved 
 

Other properties incorrectly labeled as “Tax-Title” from these original preservation lands and 
town forest

 
 

0 W Falmouth Highway and the remainder of the Weld Land, now combined with other lots, are 
also listed as Tax Title 

 



 
 

Other portions of town purchased land listed as tax title 
 

 
Portions further from Long Pond than 0 W Falmouth also owned by the Conservation 
Commission 
 
 



Other land around Long Pond purchased for water protection that is still in the control of the 
Selectboard and considered for development. Not listed as Tax Title. 
 

 
More land listed as tax title. This land was in fact taken by eminent domain For the Purpose of 
Watershed Protection.  



The deed for other parcel named 0 West Falmouth pictured above (35 04 011 000) which has 
been incorrectly listed as Vacant Tax Title but was explicitly taken by Eminent Domain from the 
Trustees of Public Reservations for the Purpose of Watershed Protection in 1954. 

 



 Note: Braeside was land owned by an owner who refused to sell to the town despite multiple 
town efforts to purchase the land.  

 
Other piece of land that was bought by the town and cut off by Rt. 28 but belongs to the 
Conservation Commission demonstrating clear precedent of Conservation Commission holding 
lands around Long Pond even outside direct area of surface drainage.  
 


